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Conmpany, Hunt Valley, Maryland, for the
Respondent .

Bef or e: Judge Koutras
St atement of the Case

Thi s proceedi ng concerns a proposal for assessment of civi
penalty filed by the petitioner against the respondent pursuant
to section 110(a)of the Federal Mne Safety and Health Act of
1977, 30 U.S.C. 0O 820(a), seeking a civil penalty assessnent of
$168 for an alleged violation of mandatory safety standard
30 CF.R [0O56.14131(a), which requires seat belts to be provided
and worn in haul age trucks. The respondent filed a tinely
contest and answer conceding the fact that the cited truck
operator was not wearing the seat belt, but contesting the
i nspector's finding that the violation was "significant and
substantial" (S&S). A hearing was held in York, Pennsylvania,
and the parties filed posthearing briefs which | have consi dered
in the course of ny adjudication of this matter

| ssues

The issues presented in this proceeding are (1) whether the
respondent has violated the cited standard as alleged in the
proposal for assessnent of civil penalty, (2) whether the
violation was "significant and substantial", and (3) the
appropriate civil penalty that should be assessed based on the
criteria found in section 110(i) of the Act. Additional issues
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rai sed by the parties are identified and di sposed of in the
course of this decision.

Applicable Statutory and Regul atory Provisions

1. The Federal Mne Safety and Health Act of 1977,
Pub. L. 95-164, 30 U.S.C. 0O 801 et seq.

2. Section 110(i) of the 1977 Act, 30 U.S.C. O 820(i).
3. 30 CF.R 0O56.14131(a).
4. Commi ssion Rules, 20 C.F.R 0O 2700.1 et seq.
Stipul ations
The parties filed the followi ng prehearing stipul ations:
1. Medford Quarry is owned and operated by the respondent.

2. Medford Quarry is subect to the jurisdiction of the
Federal M ne Safety and Health Act of 1977 ("the Act").

3. The presiding Adm nistrative Law Judge has jurisdiction
over the proceedi ng pursuant to 0O 105 of the Act.

4. The citation and termination were properly served by a
duly authorized representative of the Secretary upon an
agent of the respondent at the date, tinme, and place stated
therein and may be admitted into evidence for the purpose of
establ i shing their issuance.

5. The parties stipulate to the authenticity of their
exhibits but not to the rel evance or the truth of the
matters asserted therein.

6. The alleged violation was abated in a timely manner

7. The violation of 30 CF.R 0O 56.14131(a), occurred as
described in Citation No. 3869428, issued March 24, 1992.
The parties do not agree, however, with respect to the

I nspector's assessnment of the gravity and negligence of the
vi ol ati on.

8. The computer printout reflecting the respondent's

hi story of violations is an authentic copy and may be
admtted as a business record of the Mne Safety and health
Admi ni stration.

Wth regard to the proposed stipul ations concerning the
Quarry production, Nos. 8 and 9, the respondent's counsel stated
that the total annual production of the Medford Quarry is
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approxi mately 600,000 to 700,000, tons per year, rather than the
65, 630, stipulated anobunt previously subnmtted by the parties,
and that the total company production is greater than the 1.8
mllion production figure submtted by the parties (Tr. 7).

Di scussi on

The contested section 104(a) "S&S" Citation No. 3869428,
i ssued by MSHA | nspector Elwood S. Frederick, on March 24, 1992,
citing an alleged violation of mandatory safety standard
30 CF.R [O56.14131(a), states as follows:

The operator of the stock truck company No. 603 was not
wearing his seat belt. This truck was bei ng operated
in and around the plant area hauling material to

st ockpi | es.

Petitioner's Testinmny and Evi dence

MSHA | nspector Elwood S. Frederick confirned that he issued
the citation in question in the course of a regular inspection at
the respondent's quarry site on March 24, 1992, and that he was
acconpani ed by the mine superintendent. M. Frederick stated
that while with the superintendent in his pickup truck in the bin
area he noticed that the cited truck that had just dunped a | oad
of crushed stone material was proceedi ng down the slight grade
fromthe stockpile with the truck bed in the air. The driver
was | owering the bed as he was traveling down the road.

M. Frederick stated that he waited until the truck pulled into
the bin area, and as it was pulling in under the bin he wal ked
toward the truck and notioned the driver to open the door because
he wanted to speak with him about traveling with the truck bed in
the air. Wen the driver opened the door M. Frederick observed
that the seat belt was hangi ng down between the door and the

seat. Wen he asked the driver about it, the driver informed him
t hat he unhooked the seat belt when M. Frederick notioned to him
and that the belt fell down. M. Frederick stated that he
observed that the driver had both hands on the steering wheel as
he was pulling into the bin area and he informed the driver that
he was issuing a citation for not wearing his seat belt and told
himthat he was not to travel around the plant with the truck bed
inthe air (Tr. 14-16).

M. Frederick stated that the superintendent informed him
that his people are instructed not to travel with truck beds
raised in the air (Tr. 17). M. Frederick did not believe that
the driver had just unhooked his seat belt after he notioned to
hi m because he observed the driver with both hands on the whee
and that the driver "had to be pretty fast to unbuckle that”
(Tr. 18). M. Frederick stated that "the road was fairly w de
and in fairly decent shape", and that the cited truck was
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traveling approximately ten mles an hour and one other truck was
al so hauling material (Tr. 20-21).

M. Frederick stated that he considered the violation to be
signi ficant and substantial because the truck bed was raised and
the driver was com ng down a slight grade. Wth the bed in the
air, the center of gravity of the truck changed and it could
upset very easily. M. Frederick was aware of docunented
acci dents where trucks have hit potholes and overturned, or a
driver applies his brakes to avoid another truck and | oses
control of the vehicle (Tr. 22). M. Frederick did not cite the
truck for having the bed raised, but in hindsight, stated that
"l should have issued an i mm nent danger order"™ (Tr. 24).

M. Frederick stated that traveling with the truck bed
rai sed was not a good safety practice, and MSHA requires that the
bed be down to the horizontal position after a driver dunps a
| oad at the stockpile and | eaves the area. He also alluded to
several hazards associated with stockpiles, and confirned that
the stockpile in question was well-maintained (Tr. 25-29). He
confirmed that he based his "S&S" finding on the raised bed of
the truck changing the center of gravity of the truck, and not
because of any stockpile conditions. He also indicated that
there was one other vehicle in the area, and that if the driver
hit a pothole or sonething in the road, "he has nore |ikelihood
of upsetting that truck" (Tr. 30). He also believed that by
allowing the driver to continue to operate the truck with the bed
inthe air "it's reasonably likely if nothing' s ever done that
there will be an accident”. The failure to wear a seat belt
woul d contribute to the severity of an accident if one were to
occur, and he was aware of accident reports where a driver not
wearing a seat belt was propelled about his cab and was killed
after striking his head. He believed that a driver with his seat
belt fastened "stands a greater chance of not conming out with
serious injury or fatality than he does if he's not wearing a
seat belt" (Tr. 31-33).

M. Frederick stated that he based his "noderate" negligence
finding on the fact that the respondent "does a good job", and
had a seat belt policy which it enforced, including disciplinary
action against its enployees (Tr. 34, 37). M. Frederick stated
that if the truck bed were not raised, he would not consider the
failure to wear a seat belt to be "S&S" because the truck would
have been stable with the bed down (Tr. 42). The violation was
abated the same day it was issued after he instructed the truck
driver to hook up his belt and the driver was disciplined by the
respondent (Tr. 44).

On cross-exam nation, M. Frederick confirnmed that he was
famliar with MSHA' s policy guidelines concerning "S&S"
vi ol ations, and the requirenent that any "S&S" finding should be
consistent with the information recorded in his notes and
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eval uation of all of the facts. He confirmed that the citation
and his notes do not mention that the raised truck bed was the
basis for his "S&S" finding (Tr. 47). He stated that the fact
that the bed was raised was significant, but that " a |ot of
things we don't put in our notes", and he conceded that "to a
certain degree", he did not conply with MSHA policy in this
regard (Tr. 48).

M. Frederick confirmed that when he issued the citation
the stockpile was in good shape and the road was snooth and well -
mai ntai ned "to a degree”, and the truck was traveling on a slight
incline at a safe speed (Tr. 52). He reiterated that he based
his "S&S" finding on the fact that the truck bed was in the air
t hereby changing the center of gravity of the truck, and the
presence of other vehicles in the area (Tr. 57). The raised
truck bed was a contributing factor to his "S&S" finding, and the
failure to wear a seat belt contributed to the severity of any
accident (Tr. 57-59). M. Frederick confirned that he has issued
seat belt violations which he did not consider were "S&S"
violations (Tr. 63-64).

In response to further questions, M. Frederick confirned
that the truck driver in question was beginning to | ower his
truck bed as he drove away fromthe stockpile, and it was down
when he pulled into the bin area (Tr. 67-68). He confirned that
the respondent had established "rules of the road and traffic
patterns” for its vehicles (Tr. 71). He confirmed that the other
truck that he previously referred to was not in close proximty
to the truck that he cited, but it was possible for both trucks
to pass each other in opposite directions on the roadway
(Tr. 71). M. Frederick also explained the dunping of materia
at the stockpile, and he conceded that he had no know edge as to
whet her the driver was wearing his seat belt while operating at
the stockpile area (Tr. 75-77). M. Frederick was not aware of
any prior seat belt violations at the respondent's quarry
(Tr. 81).

Respondent's Testi nony and Evi dence

Cene Larrick, quarry superintendent, confirmed that he was with
I nspector Frederick at the tine the citation was issued.

M. Larrick confirmed that he observed the truck |eaving the
stockpile with the truck bed up, but he did not observe the
driver without his belt on. M. Larrick also confirmed that the
driver was disciplined for driving with his truck bed rai sed and
for the seat belt violation (Tr. 90). He confirmed that the
respondent has a policy that drivers not |eave dunping areas with
their truck beds raised, and that he and his supervisors
periodically check to see that enpl oyees wear their seat belts.
He stated that the respondent has a mandatory policy requiring
the wearing of seat belts at all tines on equipnment w thout
rollover protection (Tr. 91). He also confirmed that the
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respondent has a Job Safety Analysis (JSA) for enpl oyees covering
safety procedures at dunping areas and that seat belt training is
provi ded to enployees (Tr. 91-92).

M. Larrick stated that he remained in his pickup truck in
the bin area while M. Frederick went to the truck to speak to
the driver, and that M. Frederick returned and told himthat the
driver did not have his seatbelt on. M. Larrick confirmed that
he did not speak to the driver hinself, and that M. Frederick
served the citation on himat the end of his inspection review
M. Larrick stated that he spoke to the driver at a later tine
and the driver told himthat he had his seat belt on (Tr. 100).
M. Larrick confirmed that the driver received a witten warning
for "a conbination of the bed up and not wearing the seat belt"
(Tr. 105). M. Larrick stated that he used the inspector's
observation to support the warning given to the driver for not
wearing a seat belt (Tr. 106).

On cross-exam nation, M. Larrick agreed that driving a
truck with the bed raised is a poor safety practice and agai nst
conpany policy. The policy is based on safety considerations
(Tr. 107-108). Since he did not acconpany the inspector when he
approached the truck to speak with the driver, M. Larrick could
not give an opinion as to whether or not the driver had just
di sconnected his seat belt at that time (Tr. 109). M. Larrick
agreed that a raised truck bed could cause a problemwth the
truck's center of gravity under certain conditions. Insofar as
the truck striking a pothole and becom ng unstable is concerned,
M. Larrick stated that one would have to define a "pothole" and
stated "yes, it could happen. Anything can happen” (Tr. 110-111)

Jeff Carrey, respondent's safety supervisor, explained the
respondent's training policy with respect to safety and seat
belts (Tr. 112-114). He confirmed that he was famliar with the
citation issued by M. Frederick in this case and that he
participated in the closing inspection conference and di scussed
the citation with the inspector (Tr. 115). He stated that he was
told at these neetings that "it was being witten as "S and S"
because the program policy manual indicated that they had to
wite it "S and S" and that the inspector's "hands were tied"
because of the policy. The raised truck bed was di scussed as a
separate issue (Tr. 115).

On cross-exam nation, M. Carrey confirmed that he was aware
of MSHA's program policy concerning seat belts and whether it
shoul d be an "S&S" violation, and he stated that "I see a |ot of
MSHA i nspectors, and their interpretation to me has been that the
seat belt violation is always an "S&S" violation (Tr. 119). He
confirmed that his understandi ng of the policy |anguage is that
"under npbst circunstances", such a violationis "S and S"

(Tr. 119).
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M. Carrey confirmed that the truck driver who was warned
took the matter no further (Tr. 120). He also confirmed that the
driver had previously been disciplined for |eaving work early,
and that he had been involved in past accidents when he collided
with two county trucks (Tr. 128-129). M. Carrey further
confirmed that the quarry had never been previously cited for any
seat belt violations (Tr. 129).

I nspector Frederick was recalled by the presiding judge, and
he reiterated how he deternined that the truck driver in question
was not wearing his seat belt. M. Frederick stated that the
driver told himthat he had his seat belt on, and M. Frederick
stated that he infornmed the driver that "the indications to ne as
an inspector, you did not" (Tr. 123). M. Frederick stated that
the driver was not sitting on the seat belt, that it was hangi ng
down between the door and the seat, and he explained further as
follows at (Tr. 125):

A, Well, | based everything on the fact that when he
opened the door that | seen the seat belt hangi ng down.
Now, if it was laying up on his lap, it's very possible
that he could have unhooked it and it was unhooked
laying on his lap. But with the belt hangi ng down

bet ween the seat and the door it was an indicator to nme
that he did not have it on. He was not getting out of
the truck. He was still sitting in the seat of the
truck.

Roger McClintock, MSHA Special Investigator, was called as a
rebuttal witness by the petitioner. He explained his duties and
confirmed that he was famliar with MSHA' s enforcenent policies.
He stated that he has al so served as an MSHA i nspector and
training specialist, and he explained that the seat belt policy
is only a "guideline" for an inspector to use when evaluating a
seat belt violation. M. MCintock explained his understanding
of why Inspector Frederick found the violation to be "S&S"', and
he indicated that if an accident occurs w thout the driver
wearing a seat belt, "the severity of that accident is going to
be much greater™ (Tr. 135). He agreed with M. Frederick's "S&S"
finding because "he knew the operator did not have his seat belt
on . . . and he suspected that he cane off the . . .possibly canme
off the pile with the bed in the air and with the machine in an
unst abl e, you know, condition" (Tr. 138).

On cross-exam nation, M. MdCintock confirned that he was
aware of the definition of "significant and substantial", and in
his opinion, although the failure to wear a seat belt may not
cause an accident, it can affect an accident (Tr. 139).

M. Mdintock further confirmed that there has to be a
reasonabl e |i kelihood of an accident and not just a renpote
possibility. He confirmed that he was not present at the tine
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the citation was issued and could not attest to the prevailing
condi tions

(Tr. 142).

Fi ndi ngs and Concl usi ons
Fact of Violation

The respondent is charged with a violation of mandatory
standard 30 C.F.R [0 56.14131(a), which states that "Seat belts
shall be provided and worn in haul age trucks". In support of the
violation, the petitioner points out that in its answer filed in
this case the respondent stated that it "does not dispute the
fact that the operator of the stock truck was not wearing his
seat belt". The petitioner also relies on the inspector's
testi mony that when the driver opened the truck cab, he observed
that the seat belt was hangi ng down between the door and the
seat, and that when the driver was pulling his truck into the bin
area just prior to stopping and opening his door, both of his
hands were on the steering wheel. The petitioner concludes that
the clear inference fromthe tinme sequence of these observations
by the inspector is that the driver was not wearing his seatbelt
while driving the truck

The petitioner asserts that the only indication of record
that the facts were not as stated above is the signed statenent
of the truck driver, M. Francis Dorsey (Exhibit R 1). The
statenment, which is dated March 9, 1993, reads in relevant part
as follows:

. The safety inspector Gene Larrick was setting in
Gene's truck tal king about 50 Ft. away. The inspector
got out was (sic) comng toward ny truck being (sic)
| oaded. | open ny door starte (sic) out to neet (sic)
because in our J S A no one should wal k under bins when
plant (sic) in operator (sic). He pointed and yelled
get back in and close door. | did not put my seat back
(sic) on. Its CGenstar's rule that everyone nust wear
seat belts when driving truck and etc.

The petitioner nmaintains that M. Dorsey's statement is nere
hearsay and is entitled to little, if any, weight. |In addition
to the fact that the statement was not given under oath, the
petitioner asserts that it is also anbiguous and unclear. As an
exanple, the petitioner states that it is unclear who M. Dorsey
was referring to in the phrase "he pointed and yell ed get back
in" or what the statenment "I did not put nmy seat back on" nmeans.
Under the circunstances, the petitioner concludes that
M. Dorsey's statement is highly unreliable evidence, and that it
contradicts the other evidence in the record. The petitioner
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poi nts out that neither the inspector, nor superintendent

Larrick, who waited in his truck while the inspector and

M. Dorsey tal ked, reported seeing M. Dorsey make any attenpt to
get out of the truck.

The petitioner concludes that M. Dorsey's statenent cannot
overcome the sworn testinony of the inspector, which was subject
to cross exam nation, as to what happened. Further, given the
fact that M. Dorsey was disciplined for not wearing his seat
belt, the petitioner concludes that even the respondent believed
the inspector's conclusion that M. Dorsey was not wearing his
seat belt, and did not believe M. Dorsey's story.

Rel ying on M. Dorsey's statenent, the respondent nmintains
that M. Dorsey was wearing his seatbelt at the tine of the
all eged violation. The respondent asserts that M. Dorsey's
explanation is logically supported by the facts presented, and it
relies on M. Dorsey's contention that he was attenpting to get
out of the truck when the inspector notioned for himto open the
door of the truck, and concludes that it was then that M. Dorsey
nmost |ikely unbuckled his seatbelt. Since the seatbelt was
bet ween the door and the seat, the respondent believes that the
belt was buckled and then fell off M. Dorsey's | ap when he
unbuckl ed it, as opposed to not having been worn at all and found
on the seat under him

The respondent points out that the inspector adnmitted that
he did not actually see M. Dorsey operating the truck w thout
wearing his seatbelt, and sinply observed that the belt fell out
of the truck when M. Dorsey opened the door. Under the circum
stances, the respondent concludes that the inspector relied on
circunstantial evidence that M. Dorsey was not wearing his
seatbelt. Acknow edging the fact that it is alnpst inpossible to
catch a driver "in the act" of not wearing his seatbelt, the
respondent contends that the inspector ignored persuasive and
convi nci ng evidence that M. Dorsey had his seatbelt on and
unbuckled it to open the door when the inspector approached his
truck, as he was trained to do under the respondent's policy and
common practice. The respondent believes that M. Dorsey's
story is the nore credible and | ogi cal explanation of the facts
and refutes the circunstantial evidence presented by the
petitioner. Finally, the respondent asserts that M. Dorsey
contested the violation and the reprimand he received "by witing
and neeting with MSHA (the MSHA inspector and his supervisor) and
Genstar's representatives to discuss the alleged violation".

Inits answer filed on Cctober 8, 1992, the respondent
stated as follows: "Genstar does not dispute the fact that the
operator of the stock truck was not wearing his seat belt".
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Further, the record reflects that on February 18, 1993, the
petitioner's counsel submtted prehearing stipulations agreed to
by the parties, and included therein is stipulation No. 7, which
states as fol |l ows:

The violation of 30 C.F.R 0O 56.14131(a), occurred as
described in Citation No. 3869428, issued March 24,
1992. The parties do not agree, however, with respect
to the inspector's assessnent of the gravity and
negl i gence of the violation

I take note of the fact that at the tinme the stipulations
were submitted the parties reserved the right to amend or
suppl enent their prehearing statenents follow ng further tria
preparation and within a reasonable tine before the hearing.
However, during opening statenments at the hearing, the previously
filed stipulations were reviewed by the parties, and except for a
m nor di sagreenment concerning the respondent's production,
respondent's counsel agreed with the remaining stipulations,
i ncluding Stipulation No. 7, quoted above (Tr. 6-8). Further, at
the close of the petitioner's case, the respondent's counse
agreed that there was no dispute as to the fact of violation (Tr.
82). However, he then proceeded to rely on M. Dorsey's
statement in support of his motion for sunmary judgenent, and
argued that the statenment establishes that M. Dorsey unbuckl ed
his seat belt when he got out of his truck, or was exiting the
vehicle, "the inference being that he was wearing his belt up to
that point"” (Tr. 83). The notion for sunmary judgement was
denied (Tr. 85), and counsel's alternative notion for judgenent
on the ground that the evidence did not support the inspector's
"S&S" finding was taken under advi senment, and counsel proceeded
with his defense (Tr. 87-88).

M. Dorsey was not called to testify in this proceedi ng, nor
was he deposed by either party. Insofar as his unsworn statenent
is concerned, | find it lacking in reliability and somewhat
confusing and | have given it little weight. Although the
respondent’'s counsel suggested that the statenment was prepared
and wi tnessed by M. Larrick, when asked if this was true,

M. Larrick responded "it was just prepared and then | did read
the statenment” (Tr. 92). Further, although M. Larrick confirned
that he questioned M. Dorsey after the citation was issued and
stated that M. Dorsey told himthat he did have his seat belt

on, | take note of the fact that M. Dorsey's statenent is dated
March 9, 1993, nore than a year after the issuance of the
citation.

M. Larrick testified that he remained in his own pickup
truck while the inspector approached M. Dorsey's truck, and
al though M. Larrick stated that nmost drivers will get out of
their trucks and cone to his truck when he is in the bin area, he
did not state that this was case with M. Dorsey. |ndeed,
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M. Larrick doubted that M. Dorsey knew that M. Frederick was

an inspector when he approached his truck, and he indicated that
M. Dorsey initially opened the door as the inspector approached
his truck, and then closed it again (Tr. 94).

I nspector Frederick testified that as he approached
M. Dorsey's truck, he notioned for himto open his door because
he wanted to discuss his travelling with the truck bed in the
air. Wen the door was opened, M. Frederick noticed the seat
belt hangi ng down between the door and the seat, and he stated
that M. Dorsey told himthat he had just unhooked it after
M. Frederick had nmotioned to him (Tr. 15-16). However
M. Frederick obviously did not believe himsince he issued the
citation, and he did so because he observed that M. Dorsey had
both hands on the steering wheel as he pulled into the bin area
and did not believe that he had time to unhook his belt as he
clainmed (Tr. 16, 18).

M. Larrick testified that M. Dorsey was disciplined for
having his truck bed up as well as not having his seat belt on
(Tr. 105). M. Larrick confirmed that he did not personally see
the seat belt when M. Dorsey opened the truck door for the
i nspector and that he could not state an opinion as to whether or
not M. Dorsey had just disconnected his seat belt before opening
the door. M. Larrick further confirned that he relied on the
i nspector's observations to support the disciplinary action taken
agai nst M. Dorsey (Tr. 106).

The respondent's assertion that M. Dorsey contested the
viol ation and the conpany's disciplinary action taken against him
suggests that M. Dorsey formally appeal ed his reprimnd and
therefore | ends credence to his claimthat he was wearing his
seat belt. | reject any such conclusion. The respondent's
safety supervisor, Jeff Carrey, explained that in addition to the
i nspection closing conference, M. Dorsey sent a letter to MSHA
and nmet with the inspector and his supervisor, to state his
position and di sagreenent with the inspector's finding that he
did not have his seat belt on (Tr. 114). However, M. Carrey
confirmed that since no conpany official observed the incident
regardi ng the seat belt citation, the respondent agreed with the
i nspector and gave M. Dorsey a warning, and the matter went no
further within the conmpany (Tr. 120-121). M. Larrick confirnmed
that M. Dorsey has been involved in other "incidents" with the
truck other than seat belts, including collisions with two county
trucks (Tr. 128-219).

After careful review of all of the testinony and evi dence
adduced in this proceeding, and apart from any adni ssions and
stipul ati ons made by the respondent with respect to the
violation, | conclude and find that the petitioner has
established through a preponderance of all of the credible
evi dence and testinony, albeit circunstantial, that M. Dorsey
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was not wearing his seat belt when he drove his truck into the

bin area after departing fromthe stockpile area on the day in

question. | further conclude and find that the failure by

M. Dorsey to wear his seat belt constitutes a violation of the
cited section 56.14131(a), and the violation issued by the

i nspector |'S AFFI RVED

Signi ficant and Substantial Violations

A "significant and substantial" violation is described in
section 104(d)(1) of the Mne Act as a violation "of such nature
as could significantly and substantially contribute to the cause
and effect of a coal or other mne safety or health hazard."

30 CF.R [0O814(d)(1). A violation is properly designated
significant and substantial "if, based upon the particular facts
surroundi ng the violation there exists a reasonable |ikelihood
that the hazard contributed to will result in an injury or
illness of a reasonably serious nature." Cenent Division

Nati onal Gypsum Co., 3 FMSHRC 822, 825 (April 1981).

In Mathies Coal Co., 6 FMSHRC 1, 3-4 (January 1984), the
Commi ssion explained its interpretation of the term "significant
and substantial™ as follows:

In order to establish that a violation of a
mandatory safety standard is significant and
substantial under National Gypsumthe Secretary of
Labor must prove: (1) the underlying violation of a
mandatory safety standard; (2) a discrete safety
hazard--that is, a measure of danger to safety-
contributed to by the violation; (3) a reasonable

i kelihood that the hazard contributed to will result
in an injury; and (4) a reasonable likelihood that the
injury in question will be of a reasonably serious
nat ur e.

In United States Steel M ning Conmpany, Inc., 7 FMSHRC 1125,
1129, the Commi ssion stated further as foll ows:

We have explained further that the third el ement
of the Mathies formula "requires that the Secretary
establish a reasonable Iikelihood that the hazard
contributed to will result in an event in which there
is an injury." US. Steel Mning Co., 6 FMSHRC 1834,
1836 (August 1984). We have enphasized that, in
accordance with the | anguage of section 104(d)(1), it
is the contribution of a violation to the cause and
effect of a hazard that nust be significant and
substantial. U. S. Steel Mning Conpany, Inc., 6 FMSHRC
1866, 1868 (August 1984); U.S. Steel M ning Conpany,
Inc., 6 FMSHRC 1573, 1574-75 (July 1984).
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The question of whether any particular violation is
significant and substantial nust be based on the particular facts
surroundi ng the violation, including the nature of the mne
i nvol ved, Secretary of Labor v. Texasgulf, Inc., 10 FMSHRC 498
(April 1988); Youghi ogheny & Chi o Coal Conpany, 9 FMSHRC 2007
(Decenber 1987). Further, any determi nation of the significant
and substantial nature of a violation nust be nade in the context
of continued normal m ning operations. National Gypsum supra,
3 FMSHRC at 825; U.S. Steel M ning Company, 6 FMSRC 1573, 1574
(July 1984); U S. Steel Mning Co., Inc., 7 FMSHRC 327, 329
(March 1985). Hal fway, Incorporated, 8 FMSHRC 8, (January 1986).

The Petitioner's Argunment

The petitioner maintains that the violation was significant
and substantial (S&S). In support of its position, the
petitioner asserts that the record reflects the existence of a
di screte safety hazard, or a nmeasure of danger to safety,
contributed to by the violation. The petitioner argues that
there was extensive testinmony concerning the safety effects of
not wearing seat belts in haul age truck accidents, and it cites
I nspector Frederick's testinony concerning accident reports that
he had studied and reviewed showing injuries and fatalities
resulting fromthe failure to wear seat belts, and establishing
that a person secured in a seat belt stands a greater chance of
avoi ding serious injury or death in an accident. The inspector
al luded to operators being propelled around inside their truck
cab or being ejected fromthe truck and either sustaining serious
injuries on inpact fromthe fall or being struck or run over by
the truck itself. The petitioner also cites the testinony of
Supervi sory Special Investigator McClintock concerning his review
of nunerous haul age truck accidents, both fatal and non-fatal
which the petitioner believes establishes that the failure to
wear seat belts constitutes a discrete safety hazard that
contributes to a nmeasure of danger to safety because it
contributes to the severity of an injury suffered in an acci dent,
and can nean the difference between severely disabling injuries
and m nor injuries.

The petitioner further argues that the facts presented in
this case support a conclusion that there was a reasonabl e
i kelihood that the hazard contributed to by the violation would
result in a reasonably serious injury froma haul age truck
accident, and that it was reasonably likely that such an
accident, and resulting injury, would occur. |In support of this
conclusion, the petitioner asserts that a truck travelling with
its bed in the air causes the center of gravity of the truck to
shift, and it becones | ess stable and easily subject to upset.
The petitioner points out that the respondent admtted that
travelling with the bed up is an unsafe practice that affects the
stability of the vehicle, that it is against conpany policy, and
t hat enpl oyees have been instructed not to do it.
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The petitioner maintains that the practice of traveling with
the truck bed raised itself makes it nore likely that a haul age
accident will occur, and that other factors observed by the
i nspector, in conmbination with the raised bed, nade an acci dent
reasonable likely. These "other factors" included two-
directional traffic on the sane road going to the stockpile,
anot her haul truck operating in the same area and at the sanme
time hauling fromthe bins to the stockpile, a slightly graded
roadway, and the existence of a stockpile which is nade of
material that is not conpacted and is affected by weather
conditions. The petitioner asserts that all of these factors
contributed to the inspector's assessnent that an accident was
reasonably likely, and that any injury received as a result of
the acci dent would be reasonably serious.

The petitioner denies the respondent's contention that
I nspector Frederick based his "S&S" findings on MSHA' s June 27,
1990, Program Policy Letter regarding the wearing of seat belts,
and his belief that the policy required all seat belt violations
to be cited as "S&S", rather than on the facts and conditions
that he observed at the tinme the citation was issued. The
petitioner points out that the policy letter does not state that
all seat belt violations are "S&S", and nmerely states that the
failure to provide, maintain, or wear seat belts is a serious
saf ety hazard and under nost circunstances should be a
significant and substantial violation. The petitioner agrees
that the appropriateness of an "S&S" designation depends on the
facts and circumstances observed at the tinme a citation is
i ssued, and it maintains that the inspector's testinony
establishes that he relied on all of the aforementioned
condi tions he observed. The petitioner also points out that
I nspector Frederick has issued non-"S&S" seat belt citations in
the past and confirmed that he woul d not have designated the
contested citation as "S&S" if the conditions had been different.

Commenting on three cases cited by the respondent's counse
in the course of the hearing in which seat belt violations were
found not to be "S&S"', the petitioner points out that in two of
t hose cases, the inspectors did not cite the violations as "S&S"
(I'sland Construction Co., Inc., 11 FMSHRC 877 (April 1990); Brown
Brothers Sand Co., 12 FMSHRC 877 (April 1990). In Brown
Brothers, the petitioner states that the violation was not "S&S"
because the | oader was being operated in a level area and there
were no facts that would nake it likely that it would strike
ot her equi pnment or roll over. |In the third case, Bennett
Trucking Co. and B & S Trucki ng Conmpany, 12 FMSHRC 1038 ( May
1990), the petitioner points out that the cited regul ation
section 77.1710(i), applied only to vehicles where there was a
danger of overturning, which was not established in that case,
whereas the | anguage of the cited seat belt regulation in the
i nstant case is mandatory for all haul age trucks. Further, as
previ ously discussed, the petitioner states that there were a
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combi nation of factors, the nobst inportant one being the fact
that the truck was travelling with its bed raised, in itself an
unsafe practice agai nst conpany policy, that made it reasonably
likely that an accident would occur. Under the circumnstances,
the petitioner concludes that the cases relied on by the
respondent do not |lend support to its position that the violation
shoul d not have been cited as "S&S".

The Respondent's Argunent

Citing the Comm ssion's National Gypsum Conpany deci sion
supra, and MSHA's policy manual guidelines for determ ning "S&S"
vi ol ati ons, the respondent maintains that it nmust be shown that
there was a reasonable likelihood of a serious accident, based on
the surrounding facts of the case, before the contested violation
can be designated as "S&S". The respondent asserts that an
obj ective standard of reasonable likelihood requires that the
probability of a serious accident resulting froma violation be
nore than just renote or speculative. On the facts of this case
t he respondent concludes that there did not exist a reasonable
i keli hood that a hazard or accident woul d have occurred on the
day in question.

The respondent further argues that MSHA' s policy manual
states that before designating a violation as "S&S", a serious
injury nmust be "reasonably likely" to occur if the violation is
not abated. Citing Bennett Trucking Conmpany, 12 FMSHRC 1038
(May 1990), the respondent mmintains that the petitioner nust
first establish the danger of the truck overturning before a
seatbelt violation could be designated as "S&S". The respondent
submits that MSHA's policy, and the case law, require that such
danger be reasonably likely, not just possible, and that the
i nspector supported this position by admtting that he had first
determ ned that an accident was reasonably likely fromthe
truck's bed being in the air before stating that the seathbelt
violation would only then contribute to the severity of any
injuries.

The respondent contends that the evidence in this case does
not support the inspector's application of the "reasonable
i kelihood" standard. |In order for the inspector to have
properly determ ned that the violation was "S&S", the respondent
bel i eves that he woul d have been required to find that there
exi sted the "reasonable |ikelihood" that the truck would have
overturned sinmply fromhaving its bed being lowered as it pulled
away froma stable stockpile. The respondent asserts that there
was no evi dence of any other unsafe conditions that could have
contributed to a potential accident, and that w thout the
presence of other factors, such as an unstable stockpile, or a
roadway pot hole, the probability of the truck overturning is
specul ative at best, much | ess reasonably likely to have
occurred.
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The respondent concludes that the petitioner offered no
ot her evidence to support the inspector's "S&S" finding other
than references to irrel evant cases and studi es which invol ved
factors not present in the instant case.

The respondent enphasizes the fact that there has never been
an instances at its quarry where a truck has overturned from
lowering its bed while safely proceeding down a slight grade, and
that the inspector could not recall of any instances in his
experience where this has occurred without some other unsafe
force or factor involved

The respondent points out that MSHA's policy manual dealing
with "S&S" violations provides that an inspector shall include
all of the factors relevant to his evaluation of a violation as
"S&S" in his inspection notes. Although the inspector clained at
the hearing that he based his "S&S" finding on the fact that the
truck bed was up, and that he tries to include pertinent
information in his notes "right there on the spot”, the
respondent points out that he nmade no nmention of the truck bed
being up in the air in his notes or in the citation. The
respondent contends that the inspector gave little weight to the
rai sed truck bed when he designated the violation as "S&S". In
support of this conclusion, the respondent relies on the absence
of this information in the inspector's notes, and his statenent
at the closing conference that his hands were tied because of
MSHA' s seatbelt policy. The respondent submits that the raised
truck bed only becane a significant factor once it decided to
chal | enge the seatbelt policy.

Finally, the respondent maintains that on the basis of its
dealings with MSHA, it believes that the inspectors are
over zeal ously assessing all alleged seatbelt violations as "S&S"
pursuant to its policy statenent, irrespective of mitigating
ci rcunstances. Even assuming the existence of nmitigating
ci rcunst ances, the respondent still believes that MSHA' s policy
does not state the proper standard by which "S&S" viol ations
shoul d be judged as required by its own policy that requires an
inspector to find that there is a "reasonable |ikelihood" of an
injury or illness in order to designate the violation as "S&S",
and not just a renpte possibility of an accident, or the
presunpti on of an "S&S" violation based on the policy manual.
The respondent concludes that the inspector in this case
i mproperly applied MSHA's policy, as well as the case law, in
finding that the violation was "S&S".

I conclude and find that whether or not I|nspector Frederick
relied on MSHA's policy manual as the basis for his "S&S" finding
is not particularly critical. The Conm ssion has held that such
policy instructions "are not officially promul gated and do not
prescri be rules of |aw binding upon an agency" (Comm ssion). dd
Ben Coal Conpany, 2 FMSHRC 2806, 2809 (COctober 1980). However,
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since the policy manual guidelines and instructions are intended
to provide instructions and assistance to inspectors as they go
about their daily inspection duties, and are relied on by the
industry so that it my be aware of MSHA's interpretations and
applications as a neans of staying in conpliance, | would expect
an inspector to follow the policy. 1In this case, the inspector
conceded that he failed to follow the policy with respect to
noti ng and docunenting each essential factor that pronpted himto
make his "S&S" finding.

Al though | find some nerit in the respondent's suggestion
that MSHA's policy guidelines with respect to seat belt
vi ol ati ons provide a ready formula for an inspector to concl ude

that all such violations are per se "S&S", | cannot concl ude that
the inspector in this case nmade a per se finding of "S&S" based
solely on such a policy. However, | do take note of the fact

that the policy instructions which state that "the failure to
wear seat belts is a serious hazard and under nost circumnstances
shoul d be a significant and substantial violation"; that "al
citations issued for failure to wear seat belts should be

revi ewed for special assessment"”, e.g., violations cited as
contributing to serious injury or fatality, or violations

eval uated as having extraordinarily high gravity (highly likely
and fatal); and that "without mtigating circunstances, the
gravity evaluation of reasonably likely or highly likely, and
fatal would usually be justified" (wthout identifying exanples
of mitigating circunstances), are rather suggestive and do
provi de conveni ent and expedi ent ingredients for an inspector to
conclude that all seat belt violations are per se "S&S", w thout
considering all of the prevailing conditions nmandated by the case
|l aw to support such a finding.

At the heart of the petitioner's case is its contention that
the raised truck bed, in conbination with other factors, such as
two-directional traffic of the roadway, another truck hauling
fromthe bins to the stockpile, a slightly graded roadway, and a
stockpil e made of material that is not conpacted and is affected
by weat her conditions, support the inspector's belief that an
acci dent was reasonably |ikely. However, as indicated by the
di scussi on which follows below, the testinony of the inspector
hi mrsel f does not support the petitioner's suggestions that these
"other factors" made it reasonably likely that an accident would
have occurred. Having viewed the inspector in the course of the
heari ng, and having carefully reviewed his testinmony, | find it
to be rather contradictory, equivocal, and lacking in credible
support for his asserted reasons for his "S&S" finding.

I nspector Frederick initially testified that he based his
"S&S" finding on the fact that the truck driver was travelling
down a slightly graded roadway with his truck bed in a raised
position, and the inspector believed that the truck could easily
upset because its center of gravity would shift with the bed in
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the air (Tr. 22, 45). Although the inspector suggested that this
was an inmm nently dangerous situation, he did not issue an

i mm nent danger order or otherwise cite the raised truck bed
condition (Tr. 24). The inspector later testified that the

rai sed truck bed "was one of the contributing factors”, rather
than "the direct cause" for his "S&S" finding (Tr. 57). He also
stated that any determination as to the type of citation he would
i ssue woul d depend on "the conditions at the tine that the
violation is cited", and that MSHA' s seat belt policy statenent
"is only a guidance, it's not a set forth enforcenent tool"

(Tr. 64).

I nspector Frederick testified that the roadway was "fairly
wide and in fairly decent shape" (Tr. 19). Although
M. Frederick relied on several accident reports concerning
i ncidents at other nining operations where truck drivers hit
pot hol es and | ost control of their vehicles, causing an overturn,
or encountered other vehicles on a roadway and | ost control after
hitting their brakes (Tr. 22), there is no evidence that any of
these conditions ever existed at the respondent's mne or at the
time of the inspection. Indeed, while testifying that he al so
relied on a general "history" of poorly maintai ned stockpiles and
trucks encountering overhead wires, the inspector conceded that
these conditions were different and distinguishable fromthose
presented in this case (Tr. 64-65). Wth regard to the accident
reports nmentioned by special investigator McClintock, there is no
evi dence that any of the conditions that may have been present
during those events were present in the instant case, and M.
McCl i ntock confirned that he was not present when the citation
was issued by Inspector Frederick,and M. MCintock could not
attest to the conditions that prevailed at that time (Tr. 142).

There is no evidence in this case to establish that the
rai sed bed of the truck in question in fact changed its center of
gravity or affected its stability. Although the respondent
conceded that driving with the truck bed up was an unsafe
practice and agai nst conpany policy, superintendent Larrick
testified that whether or not the truck's center of gravity could
be affected woul d depend on certain conditions. The evidence
establishes that the driver was |owering the truck bed as he
departed the stockpile area at a low rate of speed and there is
no evidence that he travelled for any substantial distance with
the bed conpletely in the air. Under the circunstances, | cannot
conclude that in the nornmal course of mining activities the
driver would have driven the truck with the truck bed
continuously in a raised position. |Indeed, the evidence
establ i shes that when the truck reached the bin area, the truck
bed was conpletely down, and the inspector conceded that with the
bed down the truck woul d have been stable and he woul d not have
considered the fact that the driver did not have his seat belt
fastened to be an "S&S" violation (Tr. 41-42).
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I nspector Frederick confirmed that the driver "wasn't really
travelling fast", and he estimted the speed of the truck at 8 to
10 miles an hour as it left the slight incline away fromthe
stockpil e area. The inspector also confirmed that the driver did
not travel the entire distance of 150 to 200 feet fromthe
stockpile area to the bin area with his truck bed rai sed, and
that he was |owering the bed as he left the stockpile area
(Tr. 68). The inspector further confirmed that the respondent
had established "rules of the road", passing routes, and a right-
hand traffic pattern in place (Tr. 70). Although he alluded to
ot her vehicle traffic on the roadway in question, he could not
recall any traffic in close proximty to the cited truck at the
time of his inspection (Tr. 71).

The inspector conceded that he did not observe the driver
dunping his load at the stockpile, and that he did not know
whet her he had his belt on or off when he was at the stockpile
area prior to pulling the truck into the bin area (Tr. 76-77).
The inspector also confirmed that the stockpile area "was wel
mai ntai ned” (Tr. 28) and | find no evidence to support the
petitioner's suggestion that the stockpile materials in question
were not conpacted or otherw se unstable.

In view of the foregoing, and after careful consideration of
all of the evidence and testinmny adduced in this case, including
the argunents advanced by the parties in support of their
respective positions, | conclude and find that the petitioner has
failed to nake a case in support of its contention that the
violation cited by the inspector was significant and substantia
(S&S). Accordingly, the inspector's "S&S" finding | S VACATED
and the contested citation IS MODIFIED to a non-"S&S" section
104(a) citation.

Si ze of Business and Effect of Civil Penalty Assessnent on the
Respondent's Ability to Continue in Business

I conclude and find that the respondent is a snmall-to-nedi um
size operator, and | find nothing to suggest that the payment of
the civil penalty assessment for the violation in question wll
adversely affect the respondent's ability to continue in
busi ness.

Hi story of Prior Violations

The parties stipulated to the admissibility of a conputer
print-out purportedly containing a record of the respondent's
conpliance record (Exhibit G 3). However, the docunent contains
no meani ngful information. The inspector had no know edge of the
respondent's conpliance record and was unaware of any prior seat
belt citations issued at the quarry (Tr. 80-81). The
petitioner's counsel and MSHA supervisory Inspector M intock
agreed that the docunent reflects no prior history of violations
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for the two-year period preceding the issuance of the contested
citation in this case (Tr. 148-150). Under all of these

ci rcunmst ances, and for purposes of a civil penalty assessnment for
the violation which has been affirmed, | conclude and find that
the respondent has no history of prior assessed violations.

Negl i gence

The inspector found that the violation resulted froma
"noder at e" degree of negligence on the part of the respondent.
He confirnmed that the respondent did a good job with its seat
belt programand that it held safety nmeetings, instructed its
drivers in the use of seat belts, periodically checked to make
sure its enployees were in conpliance, and disciplined themif
they were not (Tr. 34). The inspector testified that the
respondent "did a lot of things to protect their enployees. They
had the seat belt policy, they enforced the seat belt policy,
they disciplined the people” (Tr. 37). The inspector indicated
that the cited driver "for some reason, | guess, forgot or didn't
pay much attention to what was going on and drove with the bed in
the air™ (Tr. 67-69). Under all of these circunstances, |
conclude and find that there was a | ow degree of negligence on
the respondent's part.

Good Faith Conpliance

The parties have stipulated that the violation was abated in
a tinely manner, and the inspector confirned that it was
term nated the same day it was issued. | conclude and find that
t he respondent denonstrated rapid good faith conpliance in taking
the appropriate action to abate the cited condition.

Gavity

I conclude and find that on the facts of this case, the
vi ol ati on was non-seri ous.

Civil Penalty Assessnent

On the basis of the foregoing findings and concl usi ons, and
taking into account the civil penalty assessment criteria found
in section 110(i) of the Act, | conclude and find that a civi
penalty assessment of $50 is reasonabl e and appropriate for the
vi ol ati on whi ch has been affirnmed.
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ORDER
The respondent IS ORDERED to pay a civil penalty assessment
of $50, within thirty (30) days of the date of this decision and
order. Paynment is to be nmade to the petitioner (MSHA), and upon
recei pt of paynent, this matter is disn ssed.

Ceorge A. Koutras
Adm ni strative Law Judge

Di stribution:

Gayle M Green, Esq., U S. Departnment of Labor, Ofice of the
Solicitor, 14480-Gateway Buil ding, 3535 Market Street,

Phi | adel phia, PA 19104 (Certified Miil)

Kevin E. Sniffen, Esq., Censtar Stone Products Co., Executive
Plaza |1V, Hunt Valley, MD 21031-1091 (Certified Mil)
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